Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

6-28-2021

### State v. Hennig Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48502

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Brandon Hennig appeals, contending the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence in this case, in particular by not retaining jurisdiction. He asserts the rationales it gave for imposing the sentence it did are actually contrary to the evidence and the applicable legal standards.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

Pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Hennig pled guilty to one count of aggravated battery with a deadly weapon enhancement. (R., p.255.) Mr. Hennig expressed remorse and took responsibility for his conduct, specifically noting his intent to pay restitution to make sure that

the victim's injuries in this case were fully treated. (Tr., p.67, Ls.10-20; Conf. Docs., p.136.)<sup>1</sup> Defense counsel recommended that the district court retain jurisdiction in this case. (Tr., p.62, Ls.16-18.)

That recommendation was based on several facts. (*See, e.g.*, Tr., p.64, Ls.10-18.) For example, defense counsel noted Mr. Hennig had no other criminal history. (Tr., p.64, Ls.12-13; *accord* Conf. Docs., p.137 (the presentence investigator noting this was Mr. Hennig's first arrest).) He was still relatively young, as he was only [REDACTED] at the time of sentencing. (Conf. Docs., p.133.) His LSI-R score was only 18, which put him in the "Low" risk category, and he also had a protective score of 20. (Conf. Docs., p.136.)

Additionally, defense counsel noted Mr. Hennig's mental health issues had significantly contributed to his actions in this case. (Tr., p.64, Ls.13-14.) Specifically, Dr. John Wolfe, who had begun treating Mr. Hennig about a month after the battery occurred (*see* Tr., p.34, L.17 - p.35, L.9; R., p.18), conducted a psychological evaluation on Mr. Hennig and concluded his mental health issues "may have clouded his understanding and interpretation of the circumstances of the night in question." (Conf. Docs., p.78.)

On the night in question, Mr. Hennig explained that he had gone to his friend, Joe Coby's house to print some copies of his resume, as he had done on prior occasions. (Conf. Docs., p.72.) Mr. Hennig told the presentence investigator that he arrived at Mr. Coby's house before Mr. Coby got there and waited for him. (Conf. Docs., p.135.) He said he had called out when he saw Mr. Coby arrive home, and though he thought Mr. Coby had heard him, but that he brushed past Mr. Hennig, grumbling something. (Conf. Docs., p.135.) Mr. Hennig followed Mr. Coby to the door, where he thought he saw Mr. Coby holding a knife. (Conf. Docs., pp.72, 135.) In fact,

---

<sup>1</sup> While both transcripts in this case are provided in a single electronic document, they are individually paginated. As such, citations herein will use the electronic page number.

Mr. Coby was holding his keys. (Conf. Docs., p.72.) Mr. Hennig explained he panicked and reacted to what he thought he saw by attacking Mr. Coby with the bat. (Conf. Docs., p.135.) Mr. Coby told police he thought that Mr. Hennig had been lying in wait, wearing a ski mask, and had attacked without provocation. (See, e.g., Conf. Docs., p.146.) At any rate, the confrontation ended with both men fleeing the scene. (Conf. Docs., p.136.) Mr. Hennig noted that he seriously contemplated committing suicide before ultimately going back to his grandparents' house, where he was living, and police arrested him there. (Conf. Docs., pp.135-36.)

Dr. Wolfe explained that Mr. Hennig's reactions that night were consistent with his mental health issues, particularly his Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD).<sup>2</sup> (Conf. Docs., p.78.) The doctor explained the brain rewires itself following severe trauma and can cause a person to see and respond to threats that are not actually present. (Tr., p.38, Ls.10-15.) It is a subconscious or unconscious reaction. (Tr., p.38, Ls.16-24.)

At the sentencing hearing, Dr. Wolfe testified Mr. Hennig's PTSD was caused by many traumas in his life, the three principle ones being: his father's death, being sexually assaulted at ██████ by the father of one of his friends, and being mugged while homeless in Tennessee. (Tr., p.36, Ls.7-10.) The death of his father was a particularly traumatic event for Mr. Hennig because he blamed himself for letting it happen. (Tr., p.37, Ls.2-6.) His father died as the result of a problematic reaction to some medications. (Conf. Docs., p.418.) Mr. Hennig had seen his father lying down but did not think much of it at first. (Tr., p.36, Ls.22-23.) After a while, when his father still did not get up, he became worried and called for help. (Tr., p.36, L.23 - p.37,

---

<sup>2</sup> Dr. Wolfe also diagnosed Mr. Hennig with Major Depressive Disorder, Persistent Depressive Disorder (Dysthymia), and an unspecified anxiety disorder. (Conf. Docs., p.77.) The prosecutor's evaluator agreed with the PTSD diagnosis, but not with the depression or anxiety disorders. (Conf. Docs., p.131.) Rather, that evaluator believed Mr. Hennig suffered from Schizotypal Personality Disorder. (Conf. Docs., p.131.)

L.1.) He believed that, had he checked on his father earlier, his father would have survived. (Tr., p.37, Ls.2-6; Conf. Docs., p.443.)

This was actually not the first family death Mr. Hennig had witnessed. When living with his mother in Las Vegas, Mr. Hennig's aunt was shot and killed. (Conf. Docs., p.458.) Mr. Hennig witnessed the immediate aftermath of her shooting. (Conf. Docs., p.458.) He felt particular guilt over her death because the last things he said to his aunt had been mean and hurtful. (Conf. Docs., pp.458-59.)

Mr. Hennig's mother explained that Mr. Hennig had always wanted to be the family protector, but no longer felt capable of doing so after his aunt died. (Tr., p.33, Ls.22-25.) Then, after his father died, she explained that Mr. Hennig had essentially lost all hope. (Tr., p.48, Ls.1-4.)

After his father's death, Mr. Hennig moved back with his mother, who subsequently moved the family to Tennessee. (Conf. Docs., p.459.) Mr. Hennig moved back to Idaho a few years later,<sup>3</sup> but after another few years, returned to Tennessee. (*See* Conf. Docs., pp.459-60.) During this second period of time in Tennessee, Mr. Hennig was mugged. (Conf. Docs., p.460 (noting Mr. Hennig moved back to Tennessee in 2012); Conf. Docs., p.443 (noting Mr. Hennig was mugged in 2014).) Dr. Wolfe testified this trauma "probably was the most altering for him." (Tr., p.37, Ls.7-9.) The doctor explained Mr. Hennig became "hypervigilant, easily startled," and as a result, felt fear and anxiety that someone else was going to attack him. (Conf. Docs., p.64.) As a result, he began carrying some type of weapon for his own protection. (Conf. Docs., p.64; *accord* Conf. Docs., p.466 (Mr. Hennig's grandmother explaining she observed the same

---

<sup>3</sup> During his time in Idaho, he was able to earn his GED. (Conf. Docs., p.460.)

changes); Tr., p.32, Ls.11-18 (one of Mr. Hennig's friends, Nathan Gray, testifying he was also aware Mr. Hennig carried a weapon for self-defense).)

Mr. Hennig had never sought any type of treatment to help him deal with these traumatic issues prior to the charges in this case. (Conf. Docs., p.433; *accord* Tr., p.36, Ls.10-13 (Dr. Wolfe noting it did not appear Mr. Hennig had even opened up about the sexual assault at all until recently).) However, when he finally moved back with his grandparents in 2015, he was able to get himself sober. (Conf. Docs., pp.444, 459-60.) His grandfather, a former drug counselor, confirmed that Mr. Hennig has remained clean since moving back in with his grandparents. (Conf. Docs., p.466; *see also* Conf. Docs., pp.149 & 156 (the GAIN-I evaluation agreeing Mr. Hennig's substance abuse issues were in sustained remission and no additional substance abuse treatment was needed).)

Dr. Wolfe also noted Mr. Hennig had made "wonderful progress" in his PTSD treatment, and he was amenable to continue that treatment. (Tr., p.42, Ls.1-2; Conf. Docs., p.144.) Mr. Hennig added that, since being incarcerated, he had been able to get the symptoms of his PTSD back under control. (Conf. Docs., p.462.) However, Dr. Wolfe noted the absence of symptoms is not the same thing as the presence of health. (Tr., p.462, Ls.22-23.) Rather, he testified, Mr. Hennig still needed treatment to help rebuild adaptive skills, social interaction skills, and the like. (Tr., p.43, Ls.13-20.) Dr. Wolfe was confident that treatment would continue if Mr. Hennig were placed in a community setting, but was not sure how or if it would progress in a prison setting. (Tr., p.43, L.23 - p.44, L.5 ("I know how it would work in a civilian world out in the regular community. It's a little hard to know how that would work inside a prison setting or a prison system. But we've talked about it, but I don't know that there's -- that's got good [sic] resolution right now.")) Several of Mr. Hennig's family members and

friends voiced their continuing support for him in his rehabilitation efforts. (Tr., p.33, Ls.5-15, p.50, Ls.10-18; Conf. Docs., pp.905-17.)

As such, defense counsel recommended the district court retain jurisdiction, as that would be the best option to allow Mr. Hennig to continue his treatment and build the tools as identified by Dr. Wolfe. (Tr., p.63, Ls.12-21.) However, the district court rejected that recommendation, instead imposing and executing a unified sentence of twenty-five years, with ten years fixed. (Tr., p.75, Ls.18-24.) In doing so, the court acknowledged several of the mitigating issues. (Tr., p.73, L.1 - p.74, L.3.) However, it decided to impose and execute his sentence because that would not “caus[e] any risk to society.” (Tr., p.75, Ls.15-18.) Additionally, while the district court acknowledged Mr. Hennig’s PTSD could have triggered his response, it still did not understand why Mr. Hennig’s initial reaction was to go for the bat instead of greeting Mr. Coby, since Mr. Hennig knew he was at Mr. Coby’s house. (Tr., p.74, L.20 - p.75, L.4.)

Mr. Hennig filed a notice of appeal timely from the resulting judgment of conviction. (R., pp.321, 326.)

### ISSUE

Whether the district court abused its discretion by imposing and executing an excessive sentence in Mr. Hennig’s case.

### ARGUMENT

#### The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Imposing And Executing An Excessive Sentence In Mr. Hennig’s Case

Sentencing decisions are committed to the district court’s discretion. *State v. Reinke*, 103 Idaho 771, 771 (Ct. App. 1982). Where a defendant contends that the sentencing court imposed an excessively harsh sentence, the appellate court will conduct an independent review of the

record, giving consideration to the nature of the offense, the character of the offender, and the protection of the public interest. *See id.* at 772. Accordingly, in order to show an abuse of discretion in the district court's sentencing decision, he must show that, in light of the governing criteria, the sentence is excessive considering any view of the facts. *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997); *see Lunneborg v. My Fun Life*, 163 Idaho 856, 863-64 (2018) (articulating the standard for reviewing whether the district court abused its discretion). The governing criteria, or sentencing objectives, are: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public generally; (3) the possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing. *State v. Charboneau*, 124 Idaho 497, 500 (1993).

The protection of society is the primary objective the court should consider. *Id.* The Idaho Supreme Court has indicated that rehabilitation is usually the first means the district court should consider to achieve that goal. *See State v. McCoy*, 94 Idaho 236, 240 (1971), *superseded on other grounds as stated in State v. Theil*, 158 Idaho 103 (2015); *accord State v. Bickhart*, 164 Idaho 204, 206 (Ct. App. 2018) (noting the preference identified in *McCoy* does not preclude a sentence of incarceration, if that is ultimately the best method to achieve the goals of sentencing). In other words, while the district court may place significant weight on one of the goals of sentencing, that does not mean it can ignore mitigating factors speaking to one of the other goals as being insignificant or unimportant. *See State v. Knighton*, 143 Idaho 318, 320 (2006) (noting that the failure to sufficiently consider various mitigating factors has resulted in abuses of sentencing discretion in several cases).

In this case, the district court's sentencing decision is inconsistent with the Supreme Court's decision in *McCoy*, as it fails to promote rehabilitation as the first means to achieve the protection of society. In fact, it did precisely the opposite – executing his sentence because that

was the only way there would be no risk to society. (Tr., p.75, Ls.15-18) Since the district court's explanation of its decision runs directly contrary to the applicable legal standard, it is an abuse of the district court's discretion. *Compare State v. Van Komen*, 160 Idaho 534, 540 (holding the district court erred because, while it could have reached the same sentencing decision in a permissible way, its actual explanation of its sentencing decision demonstrated it had acted contrary to the applicable legal standards).

Moreover, that analysis was flatly contradicted by the other evidence in the record. Notably, the LSI-R concluded, based on all the relevant factors, that Mr. Hennig presented a Low risk to society. (Conf. Docs., pp.136-37.) In fact, his protective score of 20 was higher than his risk score of 18. (Conf. Docs., p.136.) As such, Mr. Hennig did not actually present a risk to society even if he were sentenced to a period of retained jurisdiction and subsequently (assuming he completed the rider program satisfactorily) released on probation. As such, the district court's other rationale is not supported by the evidence.

The district court's other explanation for its decision – that it did not make sense for Mr. Hennig to simply attack the person coming into the house when he should have known it was his friend returning home (Tr., p.74, L.20 - p.75, L.4) – is also contrary to the facts in the record. The presentence investigator specifically noted that Mr. Hennig said he did, in fact, try to hail Mr. Coby when he arrived home. (Conf. Docs., p.135.)

More importantly, that analysis fails to consider the impacts of Mr. Hennig's PTSD, as explained by Dr. Wolfe. Specifically, Dr. Wolfe explained that PTSD causes the brain to perceive and react to threats which are not actually present at a subconscious or unconscious level. (Tr., p.38, Ls.10-24.) That is, in fact, exactly what the evidence shows in this case – despite knowing it was Mr. Coby, Mr. Hennig subconsciously or unconsciously perceived a non-

existent threat (that he was holding a knife, as opposed to car keys), and he reacted to that perceived, but non-existent threat. Therefore, to impose Mr. Hennig's sentence based on the idea that he did not react rationally when he was not in a rational state of mind represents a failure to exercise reason, and thus, an abuse of discretion. In other words, that rationale reveals the district court failed to properly consider the role Mr. Hennig's mental health issues played in the offense, which should have weighed in mitigation. *See Hollon v. State*, 132 Idaho 573, 581 (1999); *compare State v. Williams*, 135 Idaho 618, 620 (Ct. App. 2001) (weighing the defendant's traumatic childhood, which served a precursor to his substance abuse issues, and thus, played a role in the charged offense in that case, against the offense itself).

Moreover, the district court's decision is inconsistent with the applicable legal standards, which call for a more lenient sentence in cases such as this. Notably, this was Mr. Hennig's first felony conviction, and indeed, his first arrest. (Conf. Docs., p.137.) As the Idaho Supreme Court has made clear: "We recognize that rehabilitation, particularly of first offenders, should usually be the initial consideration in the imposition of the criminal sanction." *McCoy*, 94 Idaho at 240. This is because such a person does not yet have a fixed character for crime and so rehabilitation at this point is more likely. *State v. Owen*, 73 Idaho 394, 402 (1953), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Shepherd*, 94 Idaho 227, 228 (1971). Therefore, "the first offender should be accorded more lenient treatment than the habitual criminal." *State v. Shideler*, 103 Idaho 593, 595 (1982) (quoting *Owen*, 73 Idaho at 402).

Likewise, the fact that a defendant is still young speaks significantly to his rehabilitative potential. *Id.*; *Cook v. State*, 145 Idaho 482, 489-90 (Ct. App. 2008); *State v. Eubank*, 114 Idaho 635, 639 (Ct. App. 1988). In other words, a younger offender should be treated more leniently because he is still maturing, and still able to become a productive member of society. *See, e.g.,*

*State v. Dunnagan*, 101 Idaho 125, 126 (1980). Since this is Mr. Hennig's first felony, and, indeed, his first arrest of any kind, and he is still relatively young at [REDACTED] a more lenient sentence, such as a period of retained jurisdiction, which provides such a rehabilitative opportunity, should have been imposed.

In fact, the evidence in the record shows that Mr. Hennig had begun successfully working toward that goal of rehabilitation. As Dr. Wolfe noted, he had been making "wonderful progress" in his mental health treatment. (Tr., p.42, Ls.1-2.) Mr. Hennig also expressed remorse and accepted responsibility for his actions in this case. (Tr., p.67, Ls.10-20; Conf. Docs., p.136.) Acknowledgment of guilt and acceptance of responsibility by the defendant are critical first steps toward rehabilitation. See *State v. Kellis*, 148 Idaho 812, 815 (Ct. App. 2010). Indeed, Mr. Hennig's willingness to pay restitution to make sure Mr. Coby's injuries were fully treated (Tr., p.67, Ls.10-20) demonstrates the progress he has begun to make in that regard. See *State v. Hall*, 114 Idaho 887, 889 (Ct. App. 1988) (explaining willingness to pay restitution is a factor that the district court is to consider in mitigation). As such, the evidence in the record shows that he has begun the rehabilitation process and is making good progress thus far.

Moreover, Mr. Hennig's history shows that he is capable of continuing to be successful with such rehabilitative efforts. For example, he has also been able to get himself sober and earn his GED upon doing so. (Conf. Docs., pp.459-60.) He was also a model prisoner during his initial incarceration, with no disciplinary issues. (Conf. Docs., p.461.) "The [United States Supreme Court has] emphasized that 'a defendant's disposition to make a well-behaved and peaceful adjustment to life in prison is itself an aspect of his character that is by its nature relevant to the sentencing determination.'" *Sivak v. State*, 112 Idaho 197, 201-02 (1986) (quoting *Skipper v. South Carolina*, 476 U.S. 1, 7 (1986)). As such, his demonstrated successes

in the past, coupled with his current progress and expressed amenability to continue with such treatment (Conf. Docs., p.144) demonstrates that his sentence should have fostered such treatment opportunities. *See, e.g., State v. Alberts*, 121 Idaho 204, 209 (Ct. App. 1991) (recognizing amenability to treatment is a mitigating factor worthy of consideration in mitigation).

Furthermore, Mr. Hennig had a support network in place, as several family members and friend expressed their ongoing support of Mr. Hennig. (Tr., p.33, Ls.5-15, p.50, Ls.10-18; Conf. Docs., pp.905-17.) As the Court of Appeals has indicated, that sort of support network is worth consideration in mitigation because it indicates an increased ability to be successful in rehabilitative efforts. *See Kellis*, 148 Idaho at 817 (indicating that familial support offered in consideration of rehabilitation would be a mitigating factor worthy of consideration).

All these factors demonstrate that rehabilitation is not only possible, but likely, if pursued at this point in time. *See, e.g., Dunnagan*, 101 Idaho at 126 (recognizing timing of rehabilitation is an important consideration); *Cook*, 145 Idaho at 489-90 (same). Of course, nothing about ordering a period of retained jurisdiction at the initial sentencing hearing prevents the district court from imposing a significant underlying sentence if such a sentence is necessary to promote the other goals of sentencing, such as deterrence of others. *See generally* I.C. § 19-2601(4). Nor would it prevent the district court from imposing a long term of probation (should Mr. Hennig successfully complete the period of retained jurisdiction) to make sure he stayed under state supervision for a long period to serve those same goals. *See generally id.* Rather, it is particularly the decision to execute such as sentence and forego those rehabilitative options for a young, first-time offender which further demonstrates the abuse of the district court's discretion in this case.

This is particularly true in Mr. Hennig's case, where the evidence indicated that a sentence with a straight prison term would actually be a detriment to his rehabilitation process. As Dr. Wolfe testified, Mr. Hennig would be able to continue his treatment for his mental health issues in the community, but he was unsure how that treatment would progress in a prison setting. (Tr., p.43, L.23 - p.44, L.5; *compare* Tr., p.75, Ls.15-18 (the district court indicating it believed Mr. Hennig might be able to continue his rehabilitation in prison).) As such, the straight prison sentence, such as the one imposed by the district court, actually risks more harm to society in the long run by delaying Mr. Hennig's rehabilitation. *See, e.g., Dunnagan*, 101 Idaho at 126; *Cook*, 145 Idaho at 489-90; *cf. Tapia v. United States*, 564 U.S. 319, 326 (2011) (interpreting U.S.C. § 3582(a) as prohibiting increasing a term of incarceration just to provide access to rehabilitative opportunities in prison)).

As such, even though this was a disturbing incident which caused significant injuries to Mr. Coby, a proper consideration of all the evidence before the district court reveals that executing a sentence with a long fixed term was not an exercise of reason nor consistent with the applicable legal standards. Simply put, the district court's sentence improperly focuses on the goals of retribution and deterrence while ignoring all the facts speaking to the goals of rehabilitation, which is contrary to the applicable legal standards. *See Knighton*, 143 Idaho at 320 (explaining that, while a court can put weight on one sentencing factor, it cannot ignore facts speaking to another sentencing factor). That is particularly problematic in this case, where the sentencing factor being ignored is the one which the Idaho Supreme Court has said should be the first consideration in terms of promoting the overall protection of society, particularly for young, first-time offenders like Mr. Hennig. *McCoy*, 94 Idaho at 240. As such, the sentencing decision, and particularly, the decision to not retain jurisdiction, an abuse of the district court's discretion.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Hennig respectfully requests that this Court reduce his sentence as it deems appropriate. Alternatively, he requests that his case be remanded to the district court for a new sentencing hearing.