## **Uldaho Law**

# Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-19-2021

State v. Hennig Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48502

## A. Introduction

Law enforcement responded to a report of a man with blood on him yelling for help. (R., p.25.) An officer made contact with Joseph Coby at his residence. (R., p.25.) Coby was sitting in a patio chair with a large amount of blood on himself and his clothing. (R., p.25.) Officers

observed that Coby seemed scared and in shock, with blood covering his head and neck from what appeared to be a serious head laceration. (R., p.25.) Coby's hands were covered in blood and his pinky finger appeared broken and severely split open. (R., p.25.) He appeared to have at least one missing or broken tooth. (R., p.25.) Coby made repeated statements about dying. (R., p.25.)

Coby told law enforcement that he had come home from work in the evening; when he entered his home, he saw a man in a mask he later identified as his friend Hennig. (R., pp.25, 174, 305.) Hennig immediately attacked Coby with a baseball bat, striking him several times in the head and upper body. (R., p.25.) Hennig then placed Coby in a chokehold and said "[s]hhhh stop" as he applied pressure to Coby's neck. (R., p.25.) Coby resisted, biting one of Hennig's fingers. (R., p.25.) After Coby got away, Hennig fled. (R., p.25.) Coby reported that he had no idea why Hennig attacked him. (R., p.25.)

At the scene, officers observed blood on the concrete stairs leading down to the residence, blood smeared on the railing, blood on the inside door jam, and blood on the walls on either side of the entrance. (R., pp.29, 125.) They observed two bloody handprints and blood on the toe of Coby's right shoe. (R., p.29.) The officers located a baseball bat with blood smeared on the end and a black mask with two eye holes cut out. (R., p.29.)

After multiple attempts, officers were able to make contact with Hennig at his grandparent's residence. (R., pp.26, 34.) Officers noted Hennig appeared to have injuries consistent with being involved in a fight. (R., pp.34-35.) In Hennig's vehicle, officers observed what appeared to be blood on the steering wheel and on the cloth armrest, with apparent efforts made to clean the blood off the armrest, two rolls of paper towels, some type of cleaner in a spray bottle. (R., p.35; Conf. Ex., pp.110-22.) Officers also saw a black sweatshirt, binoculars, a headlamp, a flashlight, and an opened box of latex gloves. (R., p.35; Conf. Ex., pp.128-36.)

During a search of Hennig's residence and vehicle, officers also located garbage bags, a stun gun, cleaning supplies, gloves, duct tape, hammers, knives, a bat, a flashlight, binoculars, pepper spray, a padlock, lock picks, mutilated dolls, drawings, a training dummy, a fictional book about a serial killer, masks, and a bone saw. (R., p.176; see Conf. Ex., pp.144-284.)

The state charged Hennig by indictment with attempted first degree murder, aggravated battery, and burglary, with a deadly weapon enhancement. (R., pp.43-44, 97-98.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Hennig pleaded guilty to aggravated battery with a deadly weapon enhancement and the state dismissed the remaining charges. (R., p.255; 9/29/2020 Tr., p.9, L.18 – p.10, L.14.) The district court sentenced Hennig to twenty-five years with ten years fixed. (R., pp.321-24.) Hennig filed a timely notice of appeal. (R., pp.326-28.)

## B. Standard Of Review

The length of a sentence is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard considering the defendant's entire sentence. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 387, 391 (2007) (citing State v. Strand, 137 Idaho 457, 460, 50 P.3d 472, 475 (2002); State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho 201, 159 P.3d 838 (2007)). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Baker, 136 Idaho 576, 577, 38 P.3d 614, 615 (2001) (citing State v. Lundquist, 134 Idaho 831, 11 P.3d 27 (2000)). In evaluating whether a lower court abused its discretion, the appellate court conducts a four-part inquiry, which asks "whether the court: (1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion; (3) acted consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (4) reached its decision by the exercise of reason." State v. Herrera, 164 Idaho 261, 272, 429 P.3d 149, 160 (2018) (citing Lunneborg v. My Fun Life, 163 Idaho 856, 863, 421 P.3d 187, 194 (2018)).

## C. <u>Hennig Has Shown No Abuse Of The District Court's Discretion</u>

To bear the burden of demonstrating an abuse of discretion, the appellant must establish that, under any reasonable view of the facts, the sentence was excessive. State v. Farwell, 144 Idaho 732, 736, 170 P.3d 397, 401 (2007). In determining whether the appellant met this burden, the court considers the entire sentence but presumes that the determinate portion will be the period of actual incarceration. State v. Bailey, 161 Idaho 887, 895, 392 P.3d 1228, 1236 (2017) (citing Oliver, 144 Idaho at 726, 170 P.3d at 391). "When reviewing the reasonableness of a sentence, this Court conducts an independent review of the record, giving consideration to the nature of the offense, the character of the offender and the protection of the public interest." State v. McIntosh, 160 Idaho 1, 8, 368 P.3d 621, 628 (2015). To establish that the sentence was excessive, the appellant must demonstrate that reasonable minds could not conclude the sentence was appropriate to accomplish the sentencing goals of protecting society, deterrence, rehabilitation, and retribution. Farwell, 144 Idaho at 736, 170 P.3d at 401. "In deference to the trial judge, this Court will not substitute its view of a reasonable sentence where reasonable minds might differ." State v. Matthews, 164 Idaho 605, 608, 434 P.3d 209, 212 (2018) (quoting State v. Stevens, 146 Idaho 139, 148-49, 191 P.3d 217, 226-27 (2008)).

The sentence is reasonable in light of the conduct underlying the crime. Coby came home from work in the evening, only to be brutally attacked by a man he considered a friend. (R., p.25.) Hennig, who had been lying in wait wearing a mask, beat Coby in the head and upper body with a baseball bat. (R., pp.25, 305.) Coby tried to flee but Hennig caught him and placed him in a chokehold; Hennig continued to choke Coby, telling him to stop resisting, until Coby was able to bite Hennig's finger and break free. (R., pp.25, 305-306.) When Coby made his way to his neighbor's for help, Hennig fled. (R., pp.25, 306.) As a result of Hennig's attack, Coby suffered

serious injuries, including significant damage to his jaw, teeth, and pinky finger, and accrued tens of thousands of dollars in medical expenses from multiple procedures. (R., pp.25, 265-302, 306-07.) There was no apparent motive for the attack. (R., p.25.)

Hennig asserts that the attack was an unfortunate result of his undiagnosed post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). (Appellant's brief, pp.2-3, 8-9.) While there is no dispute that Hennig suffers from PTSD, as the prosecutor pointed out below, that explanation simply does not fit the facts of this case. (See 12/10/2020 Tr., p.39, Ls.18-22.) Hennig claims he carried a baseball bat with him for protection from cougars and he had the mask with him because wearing a mask is a sexual fetish he enjoys. (See Conf. Doc., pp.135, 455.) Those explanations do not make sense in the context of what occurred; there was no basis to carry protection from cougars for the short walk up to the entrance of Coby's residence, nor does it make sense that Hennig would be carrying a sexual fetish mask, given that he was allegedly going to Coby's house to print his resume and not intending to have a sexual encounter with Coby. Hennig asserts that he was waiting outside Coby's door, Coby pushed past him, and then when Coby pulled out his keys, Hennig thought it was a knife and went into self-defense mode. (Conf. Doc., p.135; Appellant's brief, pp.2-3.) That is contradicted by Coby's account—that he did not see Hennig as he approached his door, that he opened it and got one foot inside before he was attacked. (See R., pp.25, 305.) Moreover, Hennig's PTSD explanation for seeing the keys as a knife and using the bat in self-defense does not explain why Hennig pursued and attempted to choke Coby after beating him. As the district court noted, "[t]here are a lot of people in this society who have suffered trauma" but "[t]hey don't, as a general rule, go around beating people with baseball bats." (12/10/2020 Tr., p.61, Ls.5-10.)

The items in Hennig's vehicle and room, as well as those found in a tote, also call into question his version of events and suggest a much more sinister intent. In Hennig's vehicle,

officers observed blood with evidence that Hennig had attempted to clean it up and they located cleaning supplies, a flashlight, a headlamp, binoculars, duct tape, an opened box of latex gloves, knives, and a stun gun; in Hennig's room, officers located more weapons, a hammer, knives, a bat, pepper spray, lock picks, a training dummy, mutilated dolls, masks, and a bone saw. (R., pp.35, 176; see Conf. Ex., pp.128-284.) Further, officers found a tote connected to Hennig in a secluded wilderness area on someone's property. (Conf. Doc., p.258.) Inside, officers found a backpack, numerous knives (both in a set and loose), zip ties, plastic wrap, duct tape, a face shield, a staple gun, a roll of black garbage bags, clear plastic, cloth, and cleaning supplies. (Conf. Doc., p.258.)

The district court considered the objectives of criminal sentencing and the information prepared for and presented at sentencing, including testimony given on Hennig's behalf. (12/20/2020 Tr., p.57, L.18 – p.58, L.7.) The district court specifically recognized the mitigating factors in Hennig's case, such as his substance abuse issues, past trauma, his mental health, his lack of prior criminal behavior, and his remorse. (12/10/2020 Tr., p.59, L.10 – p.60, L.3.) However, as the PSI noted, Hennig's crime "involved significant violence" and "caused serious physical injury, permanent physical injury, unknown future medical treatment, and emotional trauma." (Conf. Doc., p.146.) "After considering all of the information that has been presented, considering all of the mitigating factors that have been brought up quite completely by the defense, in order to deter [Hennig] and others, in order to protect society and in order to give Mr. Hennig an opportunity to try and continue his rehabilitation without causing any risk to society, a prison sentence is appropriate in this case." (12/10/2020 Tr., p.61, Ls.11-18.) The district court reasonably followed the PSI's recommendation of incarceration and concluded a sentence of twenty-five years with ten years fixed "does address the goals of sentencing" and "recognizes the

mitigating factors that Mr. Hennig has, yet still holds him accountable and will protect society."

(12/10/2020 Tr., p.61, L.25 – p.62, L.3; Conf. Doc., pp.146-47.)

Hennig argues that the district court abused its discretion and its decision runs contrary to

the applicable legal standards because the court's decision "fails to promote rehabilitation as the

first means to achieve the protection of society" and fails to take into consideration his numerous

mitigating circumstances. (Appellant's brief, pp. 6-12.) As discussed above, the district court

specifically recognized and considered Hennig's many mitigating circumstances. (See 12/10/2020

Tr., p.59, L.10 – p.60, L.3.) However, the district court also considered the severity of Hennig's

crime, the brutal beating he inflicted upon Coby, and the risk that his actions pose to society.

(12/10/2020 Tr., p.60, L.4 – p.61, L.10.) The district court specifically considered rehabilitation,

as well as Hennig's request that the court retain jurisdiction, and concluded that a period of

incarceration would act as a deterrent and afford Hennig the opportunity to seek treatment and be

rehabilitated in a secure setting, while also providing protection for the community. (12/10/2020

Tr., p.58, L.13 – p.59, L.5; p.61, L.11 – p.62, L.6.) Hennig has failed to show that the district court

abused its sentencing discretion.

**CONCLUSION** 

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court.